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I. INTRODUCTION 

This matter arises from two consolidated appeals. The first appeal 

(Case No. 302393) was the State's appeal of the trial court's granting of a 

new trial. (CP 1290) Mr. Hawkins filed a cross-appeal from that appeal 

as well as a motion for discretionary review, both challenging the trial 

court's ruling that Mr. Hawkins' speedy trial rights were not violated 

(Case No. 302318). (CP 1282; 1294) This Court subsequently granted 

discretionary review of the speedy trial issue. (CP 1282) 

These actions left the parties with a procedurally confusing case. 

There are two primary issues before the Court. The first concerns whether 

Mr. Hawkins' speedy trial rights were violated (Mr. Hawkins' cross-appeal 

and discretionary review). The second concerns the new trial (State's 

appeal). This brief addresses both issues. 

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The trial court erred when it denied Mr. Hawkins' motion to 

dismiss based on the violation of his speedy trial rights. 

III. ISSUES 

1. When the trial court grants a new trial while an appeal is 

pending, does the filing of the mandate operate as the commencement date 

for speedy trial purposes? 
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2. Whether the trial court's written ruling granting a motion 

for a new trial is an order for speedy trial purposes. 

3. Whether the State is estopped from argumg that the 

issuance of the Mandate did not operate as the commencement date for 

speedy trial purposes. 

4. Whether Mr. Hawkins' right to a speedy trial was violated 

when his new trial was set 154 days after the issuance of the Mandate. 

5. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in granting a 

new trial. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Hawkins was convicted of Possession of Stolen Property and 

Attempted Possession of Stolen Property in Douglas County Superior 

Court. Mr. Hawkins appealed that conviction to this Court. (Court of 

Appeals No. 28118-3-III) 

On August 25, 2010, while his appeal was pending, Mr. Hawkins 

filed a Motion for New Trial in the Superior Court based on newly 

discovered evidence. (CP 1096) Oral argument was set on the Motion for 

New Trial for September 27, 2010. (CP 1096) 

On September 9, 2010, the Court of Appeals affirmed 

Mr. Hawkins' conviction. 157 Wn.App. 739, 238 P.3d 1226 (2010) 
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(CP 1133) Mr. Hawkins timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration of that 

ruling at the Court of Appeals. (Cover Page appended as Appendix "A") 

The Superior Court heard argument on Mr. Hawkins' Motion for 

New Trial on September 27,2010, took the Motion under advisement and 

advised the parties that it would get them a written decision. (CP 1329) 

The State then asked the trial court to set a date for Mr. Hawkins' 

resentencing. (CP 1331) In response to that request, Mr. Hawkins' trial 

counsel, Allen Ressler, stated: 

Mr. Ressler: 

(CP1331) 

Well, there was a, there was a motion for 
reconsideration filed in the, in the, in the 
Court of Appeals on this decision so the 
mandate hasn't issued yet, so we don't have 
to have a report date, I don't think, until the 
mandate issues. 

The following colloquy took place concerning the impact of the 

Motion for Reconsideration and the issuance of the Mandate: 

Mr. Ressler: 

The Court: 

Mr. Ressler: 

Right. So does the Court intend to do that 
prior to the issuance of a mandate? 

Probably not if the Court of Appeals has got 
something under reconsideration, so ... 

Well, they have a petition-a motion for 
reconsideration, so I'm not sure why we're 
setting a date prior to the issuance of the 
mandate. Normally we would set a, set a 
surrender date after the issuance of the 
mandate. So if the Court doesn't need our 
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The Court: 

Mr. Edgar: 

The Court: 

Mr. Edgar: 

The Court: 

Mr. Biggar: 

The Court: 

Mr. Ressler: 

presence here for purposes of issuing a 
written opinion, I don't see why we need a 
date until the mandate is issued. 

I would think we do, Mr. Edgar [deputy 
prosecutor], would you? 

I'll defer to Chief Deputy-

Alright. 

- prosecutor, Mr. Biggar. 

Alright. 

I didn't know they had-I didn't know they 
had filed for reconsideration. 

No, no, once a mandate-Once they do the 
motion for reconsideration, they'll issue a 
mandate and the appeals period's in there 
and I don't have any idea whether anybody's 
going to appeal it from there, but once that 
occurs, then once the mandate issues, then 
we'll impose a sentence. 

Thank you, Your Honor. 

(CP 1332-1334; emphasis added) 

On October 7, 2010, the Superior Court ruled that Mr. Hawkins 

was entitled to a new trial. The trial court issued a written "Decision on 

Motion for New Trial" that stated in its conclusion that "Defendant's 

motion for a new trial is granted." (CP 1127) 
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On November 2, 2010, the State asked the Superior Court to set 

Mr. Hawkins' case on the Court's November 15th calendar "for entry of 

order for new trial, and trial setting." (CP 1244) 

On November 8, 2010, the Superior Court noted a hearing for 

November 15, 2010 for an "order for new trial/trial setting." (CP 1245) 

On November 15, 2010, the Superior Court continued that hearing to 

December 2, 2010 because "DPA Biggar requests continuance-State 

initially didn't provide notice to defense counsel; prosecutor's office will 

send out notice of new hearing." (CP 1247) 

On November 22, 2010, Mr. Hawkins moved to strike the 

December 2, 2010 hearing to set a trial date because his Motion for 

Reconsideration was still pending at the Court of Appeals. (CP 1248) A 

hearing on the motion to strike was held on November 29, 2010. 

Mr. Hawkins personally appeared at that hearing. (Appendix "B" -

Previously filed as Ex. "M" to Motion for Discretionary Review) At that 

hearing, counsel for Mr. Hawkins argued that the trial court was without 

authority to schedule a new trial until a mandate was issued. 

(Appendix "C" - Previously filed as Ex. "F" to Motion for Discretionary 

Review, 11129110 Transcript, RP 37-41) The following colloquy took 

place: 
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Mr. Ressler: As I read the rule--I mean I understand 
Mr. Biggar's concern because the rule says 
that the--says the time for speedy trial 
begins running from the entry of the order 
for--for the entry of the Court's order 
granting a new trial, that's the new 
commencement date. But I--Be that as it 
may, that probably does not take into 
account the--those situations in which, in 
which the matter's still pending in the Court 
of Appeals, and so, so the, the granting of an 
order of new trial doesn't take into account 
situations where the case is still in the Court 
of Appeals. And because this case is still in 
the Court of Appeals, I don't believe that 
your granting the motion for new trial 
actually triggers the speedy trial running 
because I would, I would, I would--I can't 
imagine being able to argue with a 
straight face that, that the commencement 
date is anything but the date that the 
mandate issues by the Court of Appeals. 
But, you know, that, that doesn't--it doesn't 
seem to me to make sense that if you--that 
the Trial Court doesn't have the discretion to 
schedule a new trial, and then at the same 
time argue that the commencement date is, 
is the, is the Court granting the order--the 
Court granting the defense motion for a new 
trial. 

So, despite the fact that you granted a 
motion for a new trial, the commencement 
date hasn't begun. The commencement date 
is not the--not that order, but rather it is that, 
that the Court of Appeals decides to get 
around to dealing with the, the, I mean, the, 
the, the defense motion for reconsideration, 
and hopefully that'll be in the summer 
time ... 
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The Court: 

Mr. Biggar: 

Mr. Ressler: 

Mr. Biggar? 

Well, with that concession, Your Honor, I 
think Counsel's argument does make some 
sense. I would take the position that 
speedy trial, that commencement date of 
speedy trial does not occur until, I guess, 
one of two things: One, the mandate is 
received or until this Court actually 
formally enters an order granting new 
trial. This Court has entered a memo­
randum of opinion (sic). I think under the 
rules that's not technically an order for a 
new trial; I think one would need to be 
rendered in writing with findings and 
conclusions. 

I'm not going to argue that, that, that 
whatever it is that--I mean, I don't 
necessarily agree with that last thing, you 
know, but I will not, I will not, I will not 
argue that, that the, that--and I've talked to 
my client about this and I've told him that 
this was the position I was taking with the 
Court. So--and I think it's legally the right 
decision. I've tried to research this to see if I 
can find anything that--I think we're in a 
peculiar situation. I can't find anything that, 
that tells me the answer to this question, but, 
but the most sensible answer, I think, is that 
until the case comes back to the Trial Court 
from the Court of Appeals, we can't 
schedule a new trial, and I, and I certainly 
won't argue that, that the commencement 
date is the, the date that the Court granted 
the motion for new trial, whether that be in a 
formal order, or whether it be in a 
memorandum decision that the Court issued. 
But, in any, in any event, it would seem--it 
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The Court: 

Mr. Ressler: 

Mr. Biggar: 

would not be, it would not be appropriate for 
me to, to talk out of both sides of my mouth. 

Well, the Court agrees that the speedy trial 
can't begin to run until such time as the 
Court has the ability to set it for trial, and 
the Court doesn't, pursuant to the rules, 
have the ability to set it for trial at this 
particular time until it's mandated back. 
So, under those circumstances, we won't set 
it for trial until that occurs. Speedy trial 
will not begin to run until such time as the 
mandate has come back. 

Okay. Thank you, Your Honor. 

Thank you. 

(Appendix "C," RP 37-41; emphasis added) 

On December 6, 2010, the Court of Appeals sent a letter to the 

State that provided: 

It has come to our attention that a Decision on Motion 
for New Trial was filed in Douglas County on 
October 7,2010. Pursuant to RAP 7.2(e), a motion for 
permission to file a trial court determination which 
will change a decision being reviewed by the 
appellate court must be obtained prior to the formal 
entry of the trial court decision. A Motion for 
Reconsideration is pending in the appellate court. 
Please file such motion within five days, by 
December 13,2010. 

(Appendix "D") The State did not follow the Court of Appeals' directive 

to file a motion pursuant to RAP 7.2 for permission to file a formal order. 

The State took no action in response to this letter. 
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On April 12, 2011, the Court of Appeals issued the Mandate on 

this case. (CP 1132) The issuance of the Mandate operated as the 

commencement date for Mr. Hawkins' speedy trial clock. 

On June 21,2011, the State filed a Notice of Hearing for July 11, 

2011 for a trial setting. (CP 1252) This trial setting hearing (not the trial) 

was set for the 90th day following the issuance of the Mandate. The 

State's filing of this notice to set a trial date based on the new trial ruling is 

most curious in light of the State's present position that the court was 

without authority to do anything pertaining to a new trial until such time 

as a formal order on the new trial ruling was entered. 

On July 11, 2011, counsel and Mr. Hawkins appeared for the trial 

setting hearing. The following colloquy took place: 

Mr. Biggar: 

The Court: 

A bit of a backdrop: Mr. Hawkins was 
previously convicted, appealed to the Court 
of Appeals, that was affirmed, sought 
discretionary review with the Supreme 
Court, that request was denied. In the 
interim period, defense had brought a 
motion for a new trial, which the Court, at 
least from the State's perspective, orally 
granted, but no written order has been 
entered. And, again, in the State's 
perspective, although Judge Hotchkiss did 
enter a oral-or, excuse me, a written ruling 
by letter opinion-

Okay. 
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Mr. Biggar: In any event, we'd like to go ahead and set a 
trial date ... 

I also understand, and I'll let defense 
Counsel articulate, but that they're maybe 
challenging speedy trial, based on the 
issuance of the mandate from the Court of 
Appeals. 

(Appendix "C"; RP 42-43) At the hearing, defense counsel specifically 

objected to the setting of a trial date and stated that no right to speedy trial 

was being waived. (Appendix "C"; RP 44) The Superior Court set 

September 13, 2011 as the new trial date. (Appendix "C"; RP 46) This 

trial setting was 154 days after the issuance of the Mandate. The Superior 

Court also ruled that the conditions of release that had been previously set 

would remain in effect while the case was ongoing. (Appendix "C"; 

RP 48) 

On July 18, 2011, the defense formally objected to the new trial 

date as being in violation of Mr. Hawkins' speedy trial rights. (CP 1254) 

The trial court heard argument on the speedy trial motion on 

August 8,2011. At that hearing, the State argued erroneously that the trial 

court did not have the authority to enter its ruling on the motion for a new 

trial. (Appendix "C"; RP 56) 

On August 11,2011, the Superior Court filed a written decision on 

defendant's motion objecting to trial setting pursuant to CrR 3.3(d)(3). 
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(CP 1273) The Superior Court ruled that it did not have jurisdiction to 

order a new trial while the appeal was pending and that the new speedy 

trial commencement date would begin when such an order for new trial 

was entered. 

On August 29, 2011, the trial court entered Findings of Fact, 

Conclusions of Law and Order Denying Motion to Dismiss. (CP 1276) 

On August 30, 2011, the trial court also entered Findings of Fact, 

Conclusions of Law and Order Granting New Trial. (CP 1279) 

On September 15, 2011, Mr. Hawkins timely filed a Notice for 

Discretionary Review which was granted on November 1, 2011. 

(CP 1282) 

V.ARGUMENT 

1. When the Superior Court grants a new trial while an 
appeal is pending, the filing of the mandate operates as 
the commencement date for speedy trial purposes. 

Mr. Hawkins' appeal was pending when the Superior Court 

ordered a new trial. The issuance of the Mandate must be treated as the 

new commencement date. 

The right to a speedy trial is a fundamental right. State v. White, 

23 Wn.App. 438, 440, 597 P.2d 420 (1979). Strict compliance with the 

speedy trial rule is required. State v. Teems, 89 Wn.App. 385, 388, 

948 P.2d 1336 (1997). When the rule is not strictly followed, the case 
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must be dismissed with prejudice. State v. Helms, 72 Wn.App. 273, 277, 

864 P.2d 23 (1993). 

The ultimate responsibility for a speedy trial falls upon the trial 

court. erR 3.3; State v. Malone, 72 Wn.App. 429, 434, 864 P.2d 990 

(1994); State v. Lemley, 64 Wn.App. 724, 729, 828 P.2d 587 (1992). 

Although the court is ultimately responsible for ensuring compliance with 

the speedy trial rule, the State is primarily responsible for bringing the 

defendant to trial within the speedy trial period. State v. Ross, 

98 Wn.App. 1,4,981 P.2d 888 (1999). 

A defendant who is not in custody has the right to be brought to 

trial within 90 days of his commencement date. erR 3.3(b)(2)(i). 

The initial commencement date is the date of arraignment. 

erR 3.3(c)(I). The resetting of the commencement date is calculated by 

erR 3.3(c)(2) which provides in pertinent part: 

(2) Resetting of commencement date. On 
occurrence of one of the following events, a 
new commencement date shall be established, 
and the elapsed time shall be reset to zero. If 
more than one of these events occurs, the 
commencement date shall be the latest of the 
dates specified in this subsection. 

(iii) New trial. The entry of an order 
granting a mistrial or new trial or 
allowing the defendant to withdraw a 
plea of guilty. The new 
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commencement date shall be the date 
the order is entered. 

(iv) Appellate review or stay. The 
acceptance of review or grant of a 
stay by an appellate court. The new 
commencement date shall be the date 
of the defendant's appearance that 
next follows the receipt by the clerk 
of the superior court of the mandate 
or written order terminating review 
of stay. 

This appeal raIses an issue of first impression concernmg the 

interplay in CrR 3.3(c)(2) of the new trial subsection (iii) and the appellate 

review subsection (iv). 

Under the new trial subsection (iii), the new commencement date 

is the date that a new trial order is entered. It is noteworthy that CrR 3.3 

does not require that the Superior Court jump through any specific hoops 

prior to entering an order for a new trial. Here, the Superior Court filed its 

own written ruling that granted Mr. Hawkins' motion for a new trial. As 

discussed below, that written ruling, and the subsequent actions taken in 

reliance on that ruling, satisfy the rule. 

The Superior Court entered its written ruling that granted a new 

trial on October 7, 2010. (CP 1127) If that ruling was viewed in the 

abstract and without consideration of any appellate review issues, there is 

no question that Mr. Hawkins' new commencement date would be 

October 7,2010. 
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On November 2, 2010, in reliance on the Superior Court's order 

that granted a new trial, the State requested, and the Superior Court 

granted, the State's motion to set a hearing for November 15, 2010 for 

entry of an order for a new trial and to set a trial date. (CP 1244, 1245) 

That hearing date was continued to December 2, 2010 because the State 

failed to give notice ofthe hearing to the defense. (CP 1247) 

Mr. Hawkins moved to strike the December 2, 2010 trial setting 

hearing because there was still a Motion for Reconsideration pending at 

the Court of Appeals. (CP 1248) A hearing on the motion to strike the 

trial setting was held on November 29, 2010. At that time, Mr. Hawkins 

was still subject to Conditions of Release and personally appeared at this 

hearing. (Appendix "B") At that hearing, the State argued that 

Mr. Hawkins' new commencement date would be set when either the 

Mandate was filed or when the Superior Court "formally" entered an order 

granting a new trial.! (Appendix "C"; RP 40-41) The Superior Court 

ruled at that hearing that Mr. Hawkins' speedy trial rights would begin to 

run when the Mandate was filed. (Appendix "C"; RP 41) 

! Despite the fact that the State twice noted hearings for entry of a "fonnal order", no 
such order was presented by the State for the Court's consideration until well after 
Mr. Hawkins filed his motion to dismiss based on the speedy trial violation, and after the 
State apparently realized it had allowed the speedy trial clock to run out. 
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The record is clear that the Superior Court and the State agreed that 

Mr. Hawkins' new commencement date would be triggered by issuance of 

the Mandate. 

The speedy trial rule also provides that a new commencement date 

will be set upon the defendant's appearance that follows the issuance of 

the Mandate. Here, the trial court granted a new trial on October 7, 2010. 

That date did not become the new commencement date due to "appellate 

review" under CrR 3.3(c)(3)(iv). However, as a result of the Superior 

Court's order for a new trial, the Superior Court, on the State's request, set 

a trial setting hearing which resulted in Mr. Hawkins' "appearance" on 

November 29,2010. (Appendix "B") By operation of the court rules, the 

Superior Court's ruling on the new trial and Mr. Hawkins' appearance in 

Superior Court were effectively held in abeyance until the Mandate was 

issued on April 12, 2011. By operation of the court rules, the Mandate 

operated to set Mr. Hawkins' new commencement date as April 12, 2011. 

This is precisely the analysis asserted and agreed to by the Superior Court 

and the State on November 29,2010. (Appendix "C"; RP 39-41) 
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2. The Superior Court's written ruling granting a new 
trial was valid for speedy trial purposes. 

The Superior Court and the State have erroneously applied the 

requisites of a formal appealable order to the language of CrR 3.3. No 

such requirement exists in the rule or in case law. 

After the Superior Court, in its own writing, granted Mr. Hawkins' 

motion for a new trial, the State twice set hearings seeking a new trial 

date. Subsequently, the State takes the position that the Superior Court's 

written ruling was not valid because it was not a "formal order." If the 

written ruling for a new trial was not valid, on what basis did the State 

twice set up hearings to set a new trial date? Additionally, the State's 

theory that an order granting a new trial must meet the requirements of an 

appealable order is without legal support and defies logic. The Superior 

Court's written ruling was valid and binding. 

While many cases address whether a specific Superior Court ruling 

is an appealable order, those cases must be reviewed in context of the 

jurisdictional analysis associated with an appeal. Again, there is nothing 

in CrR 3.3 which stands for the proposition that a new commencement 

date will be triggered only if the court's ruling is an "appealable order." In 

examining these rulings, it is critical to bear in mind that substance 

controls over form and the court should look at the content of a document 
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rather than its title. Rhodes v. D&D Enterprise, Inc., 16 Wn.App. 175, 

177,554 P.2d 390 (1976). 

Here, Mr. Hawkins filed a fonnal motion seeking a new trial. The 

motion was argued and taken under advisement. The Superior Court filed 

its own "Decision on Motion for New Trial" which concludes on its fifth 

page that "the Defendant has satisfied the necessary elements for a new 

trial" and that "Defendant's motion for a new trial is granted." (CP 1127) 

This ruling satisfied CrR 3.3. 

3. The State is estopped from arguing that the Mandate does 
not trigger a commencement date for speedy trial 
purposes. 

Based on the Superior Court's order granting a new trial, the State 

twice set hearings for the purpose of obtaining a new trial date. The State 

also expressed its position that the issuance of the Mandate would be the 

new commencement date. (Appendix "C") The State is now attempting 

to sidestep these actions and positions and is estopped from doing so. 

A party who accepts the benefits of a judgment, decree, or judicial 

order is estopped from denying the validity or propriety thereof. 31 C.l.S. 

Estoppel and Waiver §172 (2011). 

It is well established that even though a decree is void as beyond 

the power of the court to pronounce, a party who procures or gives consent 

to it is estopped to question its validity where he has obtained a benefit 
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therefrom. Svatonsky v. Svatonsky, 63 Wn.2d 902, 904, 389 P.2d 663 

(1964); Cohen v. Stingl, 51 Wn.2d 866,870,322 P.2d 873 (1958). 

The State is estopped from arguing that the Mandate does not 

trigger a commencement date for speedy trial purposes. 

4. The trial court did not need permission of the Court of 
Appeals to enter its ruling granting a new trial. 

Shortly after the Superior Court ordered a new trial, the 

Clerk! Administrator of the Court of Appeals sent a letter directing the 

State to file a motion pursuant to RAP 7.2 for permission to file a formal 

order. (Appendix "D") This directive appears to have relied on an 

erroneous conclusion that the order for a new trial "will change a decision 

being reviewed by the appellate court. II 

The ruling that granted a new trial did not change a decision being 

reviewed by the Court of Appeals. The decisions under appellate review 

at that time were related solely to the scope of admissible evidence of 

others' conduct in the presentation of a defense and jury instructions on 

good faith claim of title. (Appendix "E") There was no pending appellate 

issue concerning a new trial based on newly discovered evidence. 

Accordingly, the ruling on the motion for a new trial did not, and could 

not, change or modify the rulings being reviewed, and the Superior Court 
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did not need penmSSlOn from the Court of Appeals. See, Leen v. 

Demopolis, 62 Wn.App. 473, 484-85, 815 P.2d 269 (1991). 

As a practical matter, the State ignored this directive and the order 

for a new trial became effective by operation of law when the Mandate 

was issued. Assuming the State had timely complied with the directive, 

the "formal order" for a new trial would still have only become effective 

upon issuance of the Mandate. 

5. The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it 
granted a new trial. (Response to State's appeal) 

In its appeal, the State asserts that the trial court abused its 

discretion in granting Mr. Hawkins' motion for a new trial based on newly 

discovered evidence. (Amended Brief of Appellant) None of the State's 

theories are sufficient to meet the high showing needed to reverse an order 

granting a new trial. 

The granting of a motion for a new trial based on newly discovered 

evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the ruling on 

such a motion will not be overturned unless it can be shown that the trial 

court abused its discretion. State v. Young, 76 Wn.2d 551, 555,458 P.2d 

8 (1969). The test for abuse of discretion in this context is whether it can 

realistically be said that "no reasonable person would take the position 

adopted by the trial court." State v. Dawkins, 71 Wn.App. 902, 907, 863 
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P.2d 124 (1993) (quoting State v. Huelett, 92 Wn.2d 967, 603 P.2d 1258 

(1979)). 

Appellate courts will rarely control the exercise of discretion of a 

trial court in granting a new trial on the ground of newly discovered 

evidence. State v. O'Brien, 66 Wash. 219, 224,119 P. 609 (1911). 

Here, the trial court sat through a lengthy trial and later heard and 

considered the motion for a new trial. The trial court was familiar with the 

appropriate legal standards for such a motion and properly exercised its 

discretion and granted Mr. Hawkins a new trial. 

a. Factual background. 

The jury heard evidence concerning allegedly stolen sprayers, a 

Landini tractor, and an RLF Kubota 7030 tractor. This evidence was 

presented to support the State's theory that Mr. Hawkins unlawfully 

possessed stolen property. The jury heard evidence that the sprayers and 

the Landini tractor could have been planted on the Sundance Slope 

property. The jury acquitted Mr. Hawkins on these counts. The jury did 

not hear any evidence as to how the RLF Kubota 7030 tractor wound up 

on the Sundance Slope property, which would have resulted in 

Mr. Hawkins unknowingly delivering a tractor that was not his to Valley 

Tractor for repair. The newly discovered evidence provided the missing 

- 20-



link that would have allowed the jury to also acquit Mr. Hawkins of the 

two counts involving the RLF Kubota 7030 tractor. 

In ruling on the motion for a new trial, the trial court had the 

benefit of presiding over a lengthy trial in this case. The trial court was 

familiar with the underlying facts, the arguments and defenses raised 

during trial, and the issues raised in post-trial motions and the appeal that 

was pending at that time. 

Unfortunately, this Court does not have the same benefit. 

Accordingly, the following factual background from the trial is set forth to 

place the present motion in proper context. 

This case arises from the disappearance and switching of Sundance 

Slope's farm equipment. Mr. Hawkins works for Sundance Slope which 

operates an orchard business and maintains a fleet of tractors. Two of its 

tractors were taken and replaced with tractors that had been taken from a 

former competitor. 

At the time of trial, Troy and Britt Hawkins had been married for 

19 years. (CP 592) They had five daughters. (CP 594) Upon graduation 

from college, they moved to Texas where Mr. Hawkins worked in the 

financial industry and Mrs. Hawkins worked as a school teacher. 

(CP 799) 

- 21 -



Mrs. Hawkins' family has been involved in the orchard business 

for generations. (CP 800) While living in Texas, Mrs. Hawkins desired to 

return to Washington to raise her children and to get involved m 

orcharding. (CP 595) In 2002, Mrs. Hawkins purchased a piece of 

Washington orchard property. (CP 596) Because the Hawkinses were 

still in Texas, arrangements were made to have Mrs. Hawkins' father, 

Doug England, and her uncle, Len England, operate the orchard. Her 

father, Doug England, also managed a local apple packing cooperative by 

the name of Manson Growers. (CP 597) 

The Hawkinses left Texas and moved to Manson in 2004. 

(CP 598) Mr. Hawkins had no prior involvement in the orchard industry. 

(CP 804) In 2004, the Hawkinses worked their own orchard and three 

other orchards they were leasing and marketed their apples that season 

through Manson Growers. (CP 598) The Hawkinses stopped marketing 

their apples through Manson Growers during the 2006 season because of 

conflicts with the Englands. (CP 598) 

The trial court excluded evidence of the conflict between the 

Hawkinses and the Englands. (CP 599-605) Had this evidence been 

admitted, the jury would have heard that the Hawkinses sold their apples 

and purchased their chemicals through Manson Growers, the local apple 

packing cooperative run by Mrs. Hawkins' father, Doug England. 
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(RP 592) During the 2006 growing season, Mr. Hawkins discovered that 

Manson Growers was overcharging its members for chemicals. 

Mr. Hawkins confronted the Englands on this overcharging in front of the 

Manson Growers Board of Directors. (Supp. CP __ , Memorandum in 

Support of New Trial) Shortly thereafter, Sundance Slope (the Hawkinses' 

business) terminated its relationship with Manson Growers, causing the 

cooperative to suffer a substantial loss of business. (Supp. CP __ ' 

Memorandum in Support of New Trial) Because of these events, the 

relationship between the Hawkinses and Englands became mutually 

hostile. (Supp. CP __ , Memorandum in Support of New Trial) This 

hostility between the families was widely known in the community, 

including among the State's witnesses in this case. 

By 2006, the Hawkinses were working a total of seven orchards in 

Chelan and Douglas Counties. (CP 811, 812) At harvest time, they had 

over 80 people working in their orchards. (CP 806) 

Sundance Slope Equipment. 

The operation of multiple orchards required considerable 

equipment, including a fleet of tractors. When the Hawkinses bought their 

first orchard, there was some equipment that came with the purchase. 

(CP 808) When they subsequently purchased the property that included 
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their home, there was additional equipment acquired as part of that sale. 

(CP 808) 

The Hawkinses acquired additional used equipment, which was 

generally acquired at auctions. (CP 609) They stored their equipment at 

two shops on their home property. (CP 609) 

RLF Columbia Land Holdings. 

Two orchards, the Beebe Ranch Orchard and the Twin W Orchard, 

played roles in this case. These orchards were purchased by RLF 

Columbia Land Holdings2 in 200l. (CP 265) RLF leased the orchards to 

the Zirkle Fruit Company until 2006. (CP 267) Zirkle Fruit employed 

Robert Morrison as its orchard manager. (CP 195) Mr. Morrison's wife 

was employed at Manson Growers. (CP 194) At the end of the 2005 

season, the lease between Zirkle Fruit and RLF was terminated. (CP 196) 

Mr. Morrison was unemployed for several months, but was subsequently 

hired by RLF to keep an eye on the orchards. (CP 157) 

Hawkins Inspection of the RLF Equipment. 

When the lease between RLF and Zirkle Fruit for the Beebe Ranch 

and Twin W property was terminated in late 2005, RLF offered the lease 

2 Throughout the course of trial, this company was variously referred to as RLF, RLH 
and RLF Columbia Landholdings. It will be collectively referred to as RLF in this brief. 
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for the 2006 season to other orchardists. (CP 174) Sundance Slope was 

potentially interested in leasing one or both of these properties. (CP 174) 

Sundance Slope eventually leased a portion of the Twin W Orchard. 

(CP 177) 

Mr. Hawkins was also in discussions with RLF to lease the Beebe 

Ranch Orchard for the 2006 season. (CP 234) During those discussions, 

Mr. Hawkins and Alvin Anderson, an experienced orchard manager and 

mechanic who assisted Mr. Hawkins with orchard decisions (CP 616), 

inspected the Beebe Ranch equipment that would be included with the 

lease. (CP 235) This included a Kubota 7030 tractor and a Landini 

tractor. (CP 235) Mr. Hawkins and Mr. Anderson inspected the 

Kubota 7030 tractor and determined it did not function at all in four-wheel 

drive. (CP 238, 828) The problems with the four-wheel drive operation 

of the Kubota 7030 tractor were also documented in emails between 

Mr. Hawkins and RLF. (CP 311) Ultimately, the Hawkinses did not lease 

the Beebe Ranch Orchard. (CP 825) 

The Air-O-Fan Sprayers. 

Two Air-O-Fan sprayers were used by Zirkle Fruit in 2004 when it 

worked the Twin W Orchard, (CP 741) The sprayers were unique as they 

had been modified to add multiple spray nozzles from the original factory 

settings. (CP 743) Zirkle Fruit determined these sprayers were not 
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adequate for what they were doing as they did not get sufficient 

penetration into the trees. (CP 743) Zirkle Fruit replaced these sprayers 

with new sprayers. (CP 744) Zirkle Fruit never used the Air-O-Fan 

sprayers again. (CP 744) 

When Sundance Slope was considering whether to lease any of the 

RLF orchards, Mr. Hawkins had the opportunity to inspect one of the old 

Air-O-Fan sprayers with Dale Martin, a field man for GS Long Company 

in Yakima. (CP 819)3 As a field man, Mr. Martin's job was to walk the 

orchards and make recommendations to the owners, including 

Mr. Hawkins, as to chemicals that should be used. (CP 741) When 

Mr. Hawkins and Mr. Martin inspected the old Air-O-Fan sprayers, they 

concluded that they were obsolete and would never be used in 

Mr. Hawkins' orchard. (CP 822) 

The Theft ofRLF's Equipment. 

At the end of the 2005 season, RLF stored its equipment at both 

the Beebe Ranch and the Twin W Orchard. (CP 159) This equipment 

included the Kubota 7030 tractor ("RLF Kubota 7030 tractor"), the 

3 Mr. Martin later provided the Declaration that resulted in the trial court granting a new 
trial. 
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Landini tractor ("RLF Landini tractor"), and the two Air-a-Fan sprayers, 

which Mr. Hawkins had previously inspected. (CP 159) 

Mr. Morrison testified that on April 2, 2006, this equipment was 

missing. (CP 162) Mr. Morrison reported the theft to RLF. (CP 164) 

Several weeks later, Mr. Morrison reported the thefts to the Douglas 

County Sheriffs Office and provided an appraisal list that had been 

previously prepared by Valley Tractor which included the make and 

model of the equipment. (CP 166) Mr. Morrison added serial numbers to 

the appraisal list. (CP 167) This list contained the RLF Kubota 7030 

tractor, the RLF Landini tractor, and the RLF Air-a-Fan sprayers. 

(CP 167) 

The Hawkins 7030 Kubota Tractor. 

Sundance Slope's fleet of tractors also included a Kubota 7030 

tractor ("Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor") and a Landini tractor ("Hawkins 

Landini tractor"). (CP 809) 

The Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor was purchased by Mr. Hawkins 

during the summer of 2005. (CP 613, 699) This tractor had been for sale 

in Mattawa and was checked out by Mr. Hawkins and Alvin Anderson. 

Mr. Hawkins, with Mr. Anderson's assistance, purchased the used 

Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor for $3,000 or $3,300. (CP 613, 695) At the 
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time of the purchase, Mr. Hawkins did not record or check the serial 

number. (CP 933) 

The Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor was brought to the Hawkinses' 

property and used during the 2005 growing season. (CP 617, 699) During 

the 2005 growing season, the Hawkins Kubota 7030 experienced 

mechanical problems and would stick in gear. (CP 617) Mr. Anderson 

was able to make the necessary repairs. The Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor 

was stored in the Hawkins' shop at the conclusion of the 2005 growing 

season. (CP 701) 

A year later, at the close of the 2006 growing season, all of the 

Sundance Slope equipment was winterized and stored in the Hawkins' 

shop. (CP 775) Julio Juraz testified that he was the mechanic that 

winterized the Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor and the Hawkins Landini 

tractor at the end of the 2006 season. (CP 775) Mr. Juraz testified that 

during the 2006 season, there was an incident when the key to the 

Hawkins Kubota 7030 went missing. (CP 777) Two or three days later, 

the Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor was found in the middle of the road, far 

away from where it had been parked. It had run out of diesel fuel. 

(CP 778) A fair inference from this is that someone had taken the key and 

attempted to drive away the tractor, but ran out of fuel. 
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The Hawkins Landini Tractor. 

In the summer of 2005, Mrs. Hawkins became aware of a used 

Landini tractor that was for sale. (CP 633) Mrs. Hawkins asked the seller 

to contact her mechanic, Mr. Anderson. (CP 634) The seller brought the 

Landini tractor to Mr. Anderson's shop for inspection. (CP 702) 

Mr. Anderson identified repair work that was needed. (CP 703) The 

seller made some of the repairs and brought the tractor back to 

Mr. Anderson's shop a second time. (CP 703) It was again rejected due to 

mechanical problems. (CP 703) The seller made additional repairs which 

finally satisfied Mr. Anderson. (CP 705) The Hawkinses purchased the 

Landini 6550 tractor for $3,600. (CP 705-708) 

Mr. Anderson testified that he saw both the Hawkins Kubota 7030 

tractor and the Hawkins Landini tractor used in the field during the 2005 

and 2006 seasons and at the Hawkins shop at the start of the 2007 season. 

(CP 708) 

The Investigation into the Missing RLF Equipment. 

Mr. Morrison reported the theft of the RLF equipment, including 

the RLF Kubota 7030 tractor, the RLF Landini tractor, and the two 

sprayers in April of 2006. 

Mr. Morrison testified that in August of 2006, he received a phone 

call from Len England, Mrs. Hawkins' uncle, advising him that he knew 
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where the RLF sprayers were and that he had pictures of them. (CP 179, 

245) Len England gave Mr. Morrison several photos of the sprayers that 

had been taken at night. (CP 179, 367) Mr. Morrison testified that Len 

England did not tell him who took the pictures. (CP 245) In fact, 

Mr. Morrison testified that he did not discuss with Len England who took 

the pictures. (CP 245) Len England told Mr. Morrison not to tell the 

police that he learned of the missing sprayers from him. (CP 247) 

Mr. Morrison testified that Len England told him that the sprayers could 

be found on some orchard property that was being leased by Sundance 

Slope. (CP 245) 

Mr. Morrison contacted the Douglas County Sheriffs Office and 

reported the information that he had been given by Len England. 

(CP 365) He made his report to Deputy Scott Allen. (CP 366) At first, 

Mr. Morrison refused to give Deputy Allen the name of the person who 

took the photos. (CP 366) He eventually identified Len England as the 

source of the photos and the information concerning the location of the 

sprayers. (CP 366) 

When Mr. Morrison told Deputy Allen that the photos and sprayer 

information had come from Len England, Deputy Allen knew that 

Mrs. Hawkins was a member of the England family. (CP 365) He was 

also aware that one of the Englands, Dale England, was a Chelan County 
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Detective. (CP 365) Deputy Allen testified there was a dispute in the 

England family and that he did not want Detective England involved in 

this investigation as it was a conflict of interest. (CP 365) At this point, 

the court sustained an objection by the State that precluded further 

testimony concerning the dispute between the Hawkins and England 

families. (CP 365) 

Deputy Allen used the information that came from Len England to 

obtain a search warrant for the sprayers that was executed on September 5, 

2006. (CP 329-331) Despite the fact that the photos and information 

provided by Len England were set forth in the search warrant affidavit, 

law enforcement never interviewed Len England concerning how he knew 

the location of the sprayers, how he knew they belonged to RLF, or why 

the photos were taken at night. (CP 367) 

The sprayers were found near a burned out trailer in a remote area 

on property that Sundance Slope had leased at the time. (CP 679) Deputy 

Allen called Mr. Hawkins when he seized the sprayers. (CP 332) 

Mr. Hawkins arrived at the search location and advised Deputy Allen that 

he did not know who owned the sprayers and that he did not know they 

were on his leased property. (CP 333-334) No charges were filed at that 

time. 
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During the investigation and execution of the sprayer search 

warrant, Deputy Allen was advised that Don and Gloria Bailey had 

information pertinent to the investigation. (CP 362) The Baileys lived 

adjacent to where the sprayers were recovered. In fact, when the search 

warrant was executed, law enforcement needed to get permission from the 

Baileys to cross their property. (CP 675) 

Gloria Bailey testified at trial that sometime between a week to ten 

days prior to the execution of the sprayer search warrant, at approximately 

12:30 am or 1:30 am, she saw a small blue pickup truck, a Ford Ranger, 

with a loaded trailer travel down her road to the area where the sprayers 

were later found. (CP 675) After the truck was out of sight for 20-30 

minutes, Mrs. Bailey became nervous and walked out of her house to 

investigate. (CP 677, 682) When she saw the truck coming back up her 

road, she turned on her outside lights. (CP 678) When her lights came on, 

the driver accelerated rapidly and the now-empty trailer was bouncing all 

over the place. (CP 678) Mrs. Bailey had been to the location where the 

sprayers were found a week or two earlier and there was nothing there 

other than a burned out trailer. (CP 679) No equipment was there at that 

time. (CP 679) Neither Deputy Allen nor any law enforcement officer 

contacted the Baileys or investigated this related suspicious activity. 
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(CP 362) Deputy Allen testified that it was a mistake to not follow up on 

the Bailey report. (CP 383) 

Mr. Morrison owns a blue Ford Ranger. (CP 249) During this 

time, Mr. Morrison's wife was employed at Manson Growers. (CP 194) 

Doug England was the manager of Manson Growers and Mr. Hawkins' 

father-in-law. (CP 194) 

Due to the recovery of the mIssmg sprayers, the criminal 

investigation continued. (CP 326) On October 24, 2006, two Chelan 

County officers arrived at the Hawkins home and asked for permission to 

inspect their orchard equipment. (CP 376, 632) Mrs. Hawkins granted 

permission and opened up her shop to allow access for the officers. 

(CP 632) When the police arrived, they had a copy of the appraisal list 

with serial numbers of the missing RLF equipment that had been provided 

by Mr. Morrison. (CP 840) On that day, the Hawkins Kubota 7030 

tractor and the Hawkins Landini tractor were both in the Hawkins shop. 

(CP 632) Officer Randy Lake spent between sixty and ninety minutes 

inspecting all of the Hawkins equipment. (CP 632) This inspection 

included the Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor and the Hawkins Landini 

tractor. (CP 632) Law enforcement checked every piece of equipment, 

lifting every hood of every tractor. (CP 842) Deputy Lake wrote down 

serial numbers. (CP 842) 
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After inspecting all of the Hawkins equipment, the officers 

reported that there was nothing to suggest that any of the missing RLF 

equipment was at Sundance Slope. (CP 376) There were no tractors with 

missing or ground-off serial numbers. (CP 463) They did not write a 

report or save the serial numbers that were recorded. (CP 459) 

It is undisputed that as of October 24, 2006, the Hawkins 

Kubota 7030 tractor and the Hawkins Landini tractor were at the Hawkins 

shop. There were no problems with serial numbers nor was any RLF 

equipment at the Hawkins' shop. 

The Shop Burglary. 

On October 25, 2006, the day following law enforcement's search, 

the Hawkins shop was burglarized. (CP 629, 838) During the burglary, a 

large tool box and an expandable file that contained equipment records, 

bills of sale, and tractor part numbers were taken. (CP 838, 663) This 

break-in and theft were reported to Chelan County. (CP 629) The 

Hawkinses filed an insurance claim for the shop burglary. (CP 700) 

The Start of the 2007 Growing Season. 

In the Spring of 2007, Mr. Hawkins pulled the Kubota 7030 and 

Landini tractors out of Sundance Slope storage and began getting the 

equipment ready for the upcoming season. The tractors were parked 

outside of the shop. The tractors started up and appeared to have no 
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operational problems. (CP 848) Unbeknownst to Mr. Hawkins, someone 

switched the Hawkins Kubota and Landini tractors with the RLF Kubota 

and Landini tractors. 

Not realizing the switch, Mr. Hawkins tried to move the 

Kubota 7030 tractor, but it would not start. (CP 846) He called 

Mr. Anderson to perform repairs. (CP 846) Mr. Anderson recalled that he 

had replaced the battery and battery cables on the Hawkins Kubota 7030 

tractor at the end of the 2006 season. (CP 710) The Kubota tractor that 

would not start at the beginning of the 2007 season had an old battery and 

old battery cables. (CP 710, 847) Mr. Anderson wondered if someone 

had changed the batteries. (CP 710) Mr. Anderson further noticed that 

the Kubota tractor he was working on did not have the attachments for a 

bin trailer that had been on the Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor at the end of 

the 2006 growing season. (CP 710) When later shown photos from the 

investigation, Mr. Anderson also noticed that the Kubota tractor he was 

working on had lights. (CP 722) The Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor did 

not have lights. (CP 722) At trial, Mr. Anderson testified that the tractor 

he worked on at the start of the 2007 season was not the same tractor that 

he and Mr. Hawkins had purchased in Mattawa and that he had attempted 

to repair at the end of the 2006 season. (CP 724) 
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Mr. Anderson continued to work on this tractor and concluded it 

had significant problems with its four-wheel drive system. (CP 711) This 

seemed odd to Mr. Anderson as the Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor had 

never had four-wheel drive problems. (CP 711) Mr. Anderson did not 

have time to make the four-wheel drive repairs and told Mr. Hawkins that 

the tractor should be taken to the dealer, Valley Tractor, to be repaired. 

(CP 712, 848) 

Because the Kubota tractor would not start and the four-wheel 

drive was not working, Mr. Hawkins followed Mr. Anderson's advice and 

took the tractor to Valley Tractor on April 3, 2007. (CP 620, 395, 418) 

These problems were puzzling as the Hawkins Kubota 7030 tractor did not 

have any starting or four-wheel drive problems when it was winterized, 

placed into storage at the end of the 2006 season, and brought out of the 

shop and parked in the loading area at the start of the 2007 season. 

(CP 848) However, Mr. Hawkins did not have any notion that the tractor 

he delivered to Valley Tractor was not his. (CP 848) 

Mr. Hawkins had previously taken equipment to Valley Tractor for 

repairs. (CP 849) He knew that his receipts always contained the serial 

number of the equipment he brought in. (CP 849) Valley Tractor 

employees testified that anyone who brings in a tractor knows that they 
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will always receive a receipt containing the equipment's serial number. 

(CP 426) 

The Valley Tractor mechanics determined that the cause of the 

four-wheel drive problem on the Kubota 7030 tractor was a blown clutch 

pack. (CP 398) In performing this diagnosis, the mechanics noticed that 

the serial number of the tractor had been ground off and the ID plate was 

missing. (CP 400,421)4 The mechanics also determined that the Kubota 

tractor that Mr. Hawkins brought in belonged to Twin W Orchard based 

upon work they had previously done on the tractor. (CP 407,413) Valley 

Tractor told Mr. Hawkins that it would need to order parts. (CP 399) 

Meanwhile, Valley Tractor contacted the Douglas County Sheriff's Office 

and reported that it had a tractor with ground off and missing serial 

numbers. (CP 340) Deputy Bill Black responded and took a number of 

photos showing grind marks where the serial numbers had been. (CP 343) 

Deputy Black asked Valley Tractor to notify him when Mr. Hawkins 

returned to pick up the tractor. (CP 345) 

4 In October of 2006, Chelan County officers had inspected the Hawkins' 7030 tractor 
and the Hawkins' Landini tractor. (CP 632) Neither of these tractors had ground off or 
missing serial numbers. (CP 463) 

- 37 -



On June 7, 2007, Valley Tractor advised Mrs. Hawkins that the 

Kubota tractor was ready to be picked up. (CP 625) Mr. Hawkins drove 

his truck and trailer to pick up the tractor the next day. (CP 852) Upon 

his arrival, a Valley Tractor employee attempted to start the tractor, but it 

would not start. (CP 852) After the Valley Tractor employee could not 

start the tractor, Mr. Hawkins started to drive away. (CP 853) As he 

started to leave, a law enforcement officer knocked on his window and 

arrested him. (CP 854) Mr. Hawkins' truck and trailer remained at Valley 

Tractor. Mr. Hawkins was not told why he was being arrested. (CP 854) 

He was taken to jail and held for three to four hours before his wife posted 

bail. (CP 627, 855) He was not given any paperwork by the arresting 

officer or the jail regarding the charge that was the basis for his arrest. 

(CP 855) Mr. Hawkins had no idea why he had been arrested. 5 

After his release from jail and having not been advised of the basis 

for his arrest, Mr. Hawkins returned the following morning to Valley 

Tractor to pick up his truck and trailer and the Kubota tractor he believed 

5 Mr. Hawkins was arrested by Deputy Brandon Long who had been sent by dispatch to 
Valley Tractor to make a probable cause arrest of Mr. Hawkins. (CP 491) Deputy Long 
prepared a report that stated he arrested Mr. Hawkins for possession of stolen property 
but said nothing about the basis of the charge being a tractor. (CP 493) Despite what 
was in his report, he testified at trial that he told Mr. Hawkins he was under arrest for 
possession of a tractor. (CP 491) Mr. Hawkins testified consistent with Deputy Long's 
report that he had not been told his arrest involved a tractor. (CP 857) 
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he owned. (CP 856) Mr. Hawkins put the pickup he drove and the tractor 

on his trailer and headed back to his shop in Manson. (CP 861) On his 

way home, he was stopped by a Chelan County Sheriff in downtown 

Chelan. (CP 861) Mr. Hawkins learned during that stop that the tractor he 

was hauling might have been the subject of a dispute and the reason he 

was arrested the day before. (CP 862) Mr. Hawkins was not detained 

from this stop. (CP 862) 

After he returned home and was unloading the tractor, he was 

again contacted by Officer Lake, one of the officers who had previously 

inspected the Hawkins equipment on October 24, 2006 and determined 

there was no stolen machinery, nor any machinery with ground off or 

missing serial numbers, in the Hawkins' shops. Officer Lake assisted 

Mr. Hawkins in unloading the tractor and departed the scene. (CP 842, 

863) 

On June 11, 2007, a search warrant for the Kubota tractor was 

executed and the tractor was recovered from the Sundance Slope shop. 

(CP 349) To obtain information for the warrant covering the Hawkins 

residence, Deputy Allen testified that he spoke with Detective Dale 

England from Chelan County. (CP 379) The tractor was located where 

Officer Lake and Mr. Hawkins had left it. Mr. Hawkins was arrested 

again that day. (CP 865) 
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Illegal Search and Seizure of Kubota 2550 Tractor.6 

On October 23, 2006, Robert Morrison contacted Chelan County 

Deputy Jeremy Mathena and reported seeing an allegedly stolen RLF 

Kubota 2550 tractor in Manson. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) 

While Deputy Mathena was in route to the location to investigate, 

he received a call from Chelan County Detective Dale England. (Supp. 

CP __ , Motion to Suppress) Detective England had called Deputy 

Mathena to offer his unsolicited assistance in locating the allegedly stolen 

tractor. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) 

The allegedly stolen tractor, a Kubota 2550, was on property 

leased by Sundance Slope. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) 

Mr. Morrison had advised Deputy Mathena that he had entered onto the 

Sundance Slope property to confirm the serial number of the tractor. 

(Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) 

Deputy Mathena arrived at the Sundance Slope property and 

entered without a warrant. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) He 

drove between a house and a shop on a private driveway and passed a "No 

Trespassing" sign. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) Deputy 

6 This discussion concerns evidence presented at trial concerning a Kubota 2550 tractor 
which is separate and different from the Hawkins Kubota 7030. 
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Mathena circled around the shop and exited his vehicle to inspect the 

tractor. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) He located the tractor's 

serial number and confirmed it was the same serial number that 

Mr. Morrison had reported as stolen. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to 

Suppress) Deputy Mathena photographed the tractor and released it to 

Mr. Morrison who drove it away. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) 

Deputy Mathena surmised that the tractor was driven by 

Mr. Morrison to property owned by Manson Growers, a company run by 

Mr. Hawkins' father-in-law, Doug England. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to 

Suppress) 

Illegal Stop and Search of Landini Tractor. 

On September 11, 2007, Douglas County Deputy Dean Schlaman 

received a call from Detective Dale England that he had seen the allegedly 

stolen RLF Landini tractor being towed by one of the Hawkins distinctive 

Dodge flatbed pickups. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) Detective 

Dale England is one of Mrs. Hawkins' uncles. Detective England told 

Deputy Schlaman that the truck was headed to Douglas County. (Supp. 

CP __ , Motion to Suppress; CP 546) Detective England asked 

Detective Schlaman to stop the pickup that was transporting the Landini 

tractor. (CP 547) Detective England had the list of stolen equipment from 

RLF. (CP 548) 
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Deputy Schlaman, at Detective England's request, stopped the 

vehicle and conducted a "Terry stop". Deputy Schlaman, by his own 

admission, acknowledged that the driver had not committed a driving 

infraction. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) Deputy Schlaman was 

unable to communicate with the driver due to a language barrier and thus 

was unable to obtain the driver's consent to search. (Supp. CP __ ' 

Motion to Suppress; CP 548) Deputy Schlaman, nevertheless, physically 

got up on the trailer and inspected the tractor for identifying numbers. 

(Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress; CP 548) Detective England arrived 

shortly thereafter and assisted in looking for serial numbers on the tractor. 

(Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) There were no missing serial 

numbers on the Landini tractor. (CP 550) 

At a different time, Detective Schlaman received another call from 

Detective England that he had information about a serial number being 

ground off a tractor. (CP 552) Detective England gave Detective 

Schlaman the name of the person who allegedly ground off the serial 

number. (CP 552) Detective Schlaman contacted the person, who denied 

any knowledge of the allegations. (CP 553) 

In October of 2007, Detective Schlaman learned that Mr. Morrison 

had found a stolen tractor on orchard property leased by Sundance Slope. 

This was the same orchard where the sprayers had been found. (CP 535) 
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On October 8, 2007, another search warrant was executed for the 

recovery of the Landini tractor from an orchard being leased by Sundance 

Slope. (CP 867) The Landini tractor described in the search warrant had 

special hydraulic equipment. (CP 868) The Landini that was seized that 

day had no special hydraulic equipment. (CP 868) Following the seizure 

of the Landini 6550 tractor, Mr. Hawkins did not have a Landini 6550 in 

his fleet. (CP 869) 

Motion to Suppress Illegal Searches and Seizures. 

Prior to trial, the defense filed a motion to suppress the warrantless 

search and seizure of the Kubota 2550 tractor and the illegal stop and 

search of the Landini tractor. (Supp. CP __ , Motion to Suppress) 

In response to the suppression motion, the State filed a Response 

that stated: 

III. STIPULATIONS BY THE STATE 

3.1 Kubota 2550. The State stipulates that it will not 
introduce evidence at trial relating to the alleged 
possession by defendant of the Kubota 2550 on 
October 23, 2006, and the search and seizure of the 
Kubota 2550 by Deputy Jeremy Mathena on that date. 

3.2 Landini 6550. The State stipulates that it will not 
introduce evidence relating to the "Terry stop" by 
Detective Dean Schlaman of an employee of 
defendant on September 11, 2007, and his subsequent 
search of the Landini 6550 during the stop. 
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On February 27, 2009, the trial court granted the motion to 

suppress. (CP 1153) 

The Charges Against Mr. Hawkins. 

Mr. Hawkins was charged by Second Amended Information with 

four counts. (CP 14) Count One was Possession of Stolen Property in the 

First Degree for the two Air-O-Fan sprayers. Count Two was Attempted 

Possession of Stolen Property in the First Degree based upon Mr. 

Hawkins' actions on June 8,2007, at Valley Tractor of showing up to pick 

up the Kubota tractor. (CP 15) Count Three was Possession of Stolen 

Property in the First Degree for Mr. Hawkins' actions on June 9, 2007, 

when he actually picked up the Kubota tractor at Valley Tractor. (CP 16) 

Count Four was Possession of Stolen Property in the First Degree on 

October 8, 2007, arising from the seizure of the Landini tractor. (CP 16) 

Prior to trial, the State filed a motion in limine seeking to preclude 

the defense from presenting evidence concerning the Englands' 

involvement in this case. (CP 1203-1240) As aptly stated by Mr. 

Hawkins' counsel: 

Mr. Ressler: .. . the England's have their fingerprints on 
almost every aspect of this; every single item of property 
that was found has England fingerprints on it. ... The 
question would be: ... why is it that the England's are 
involved in every aspect of this case? They find the 
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sprayers. They hand pictures of the sprayers to Morrison, 
Morrison then calls the police. Dale England calls the 
police to tell them that he knows who - - there was a serial 
number on the 7030 that apparently was obliterated. Dale 
England calls the Douglas County police to tell them that 
he knows who did that, and gives the information to one of 
the detectives, and the detective goes and talks to this 
person, and the person knows nothing of it, and Dale 
England is involved in that aspect. 

Dale England knows why it is, when it is and where it is 
that one tractor's being moved from one place to another, 
that one of Mr. Hawkins' employees is driving a tractor, so 
their fingerprints are on every single aspect of this case and 
I think the jury is entitled to know that they are involved in 
every aspect of this case. We don't know who took this 
property, and we don't know why a 7030 that doesn't 
belong to Mr. Hawkins ends up on his property, and we 
don't know who took his 7030, but what we do know is that 
Dale England knows something about where the sprayers 
are and how they were located and where they moved, and 
Len England - - excuse me, Dale England knows a whole 
lot about that particular part of the case, as well. Who took 
the serial number off the tractor and when and where the 
tractor was and how it is it was being moved. 

The evidence will show that the England's are related to 
Mr. Hawkins. Doug England is his wife's father, Dale 
England is her uncle, Len England is her uncle. That there 
has been a dispute within this family for some period of 
time. Dale England is a police officer or was a police 
officer. He's since been removed from the force because of 
dishonesty, which is odd information that we have. And 
though I'm not going to claim or say or even present any 
evidence that they were involved, that they stole this 
equipment, I think the jury's entitled to know that when Len 
England finds the sprayers and takes pictures of them, and 
there's no one else who's ever seen them there up until the 
time that he does, and there's people that are down there 
everyday and he's the first person to see them there, the 
jury's entitled to know that he has a motive to implicate 
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Mr. Hawkins in this crime. He has a motive to implicate 
him, and that it's not a simple act of an honest person 
discovering lost property and reporting it to the person who 
lost the property. There's something more to it than that. 
And I think that I should be able to present those 
circumstances to the jury so in order to explain that Len 
England has got some motive, besides being an honest 
citizen, to involve himself in all of this and to be reporting 
it, and the jury can conclude that maybe he had some 
additional involvement beyond simply finding it and taking 
a picture. 

(Supp. CP 1232-1234) 

The trial court initially reserved ruling on the State's motion in 

limine. (CP 1214) The court later ruled" ... ifyou're going to blame it on 

someone else, you have to have evidence someone else did it." (CP 133-

134) In response, defense counsel argued: 

(CP 135) 

Mr. Ressler: I think I'm allowed to introduce 
evidence that there's this financial strife between their 
family and his family and that they are the people 
who are making all these calls about the missing 
sprayers, the missing Landini's and the missing 
whatever, and that's it. I'm not going to say that they 
hate me or they hate him or anything of the sort. I'm 
going to say that they suffered a financial loss as a 
result of him pulling out of Manson Growers and that, 
I mean, the fact is is that they took the picture or got 
the picture. The fact is is that Dale England calls 
about the Landini, and the fact is is that, I mean, Len -
- Dale England calls about the 7030 and who scraped 
off the number. So they are involved and there is a 
financial problem between the two. 
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The trial court ultimately ruled that the evidence concerning the 

Englands and Robert Morrison was not admissible. (CP 136) 

Following trial, the jury returned verdicts of not guilty as to 

Count One (Air-O-Fan sprayers); guilty as to Count Two (attempt to pick 

up the Kubota tractor); guilty as to Count Three (picking up the Kubota 

tractor); and not guilty as to Count Four (possession of the Landini 

tractor). (CP 18-21) 

It is difficult to reconcile the State's theory that all four pieces of 

the RLF equipment were stolen during the weekend of March 31 , 2006 

from the Twin W Ranch, and that all four pieces of equipment were found 

on Sundance Slope property, yet the jury could find Mr. Hawkins guilty of 

the charges arising from the Kubota tractor and not guilty of the charges 

arising from the sprayers and the Landini tractor. 

On May 5, 2009, Mr. Hawkins was sentenced. (CP 22) A timely 

Notice of Appeal was filed on May 20, 2009. (CP 32) 

b. Motion for a new trial based on newly discovered 
evidence. 

The basis for the motion for a new trial was newly discovered 

evidence. Mr. Dale Martin was a "field man" for OS Lawn Company, a 

vendor of agricultural chemicals. At trial, he testified that in 2006 and 

2007, he provided field services for 40-50 orchard businesses, including 
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Sundance Slope Orchards. Mr. Martin inspected orchards regularly to 

make recommendations for insect control and fertilizer application. 

Mr. Martin was familiar with the Air-O-Fan sprayers that were the subject 

of the criminal charge against Mr. Hawkins. Mr. Martin stated he was at 

the Twin W Orchard with Mr. Hawkins in late winter of 2006. 

Mr. Hawkins was considering leasing that orchard. They saw the sprayers 

at the Twin W property, but Mr. Martin told Mr. Hawkins they were 

"junk" and should not be used. Mr. Martin later saw the same sprayers at 

the Sandcastle Orchard, in autumn of 2006. He testified he never saw the 

sprayers used by Sundance. Mr. Martin said he would have known if 

Sundance used the sprayers because he was the person who calibrated 

spraying equipment for the orchard. 

Mr. Martin has continued to provide field services for Sundance 

Slope. In July of 2010, Mr. Martin and Mr. Hawkins were discussing 

Mr. Martin's recommendations for the orchard. During the conversation, 

Mr. Martin stated there was something he wanted to discuss, although he 

did not know whether it was significant. Mr. Martin then described seeing 

the flatbed truck with the Kubota tractor in 2007. Mr. Hawkins called his 

attorney a few days later. (CP 1105, 1109) 

The motion for new trial was based primarily on the Declaration 

from Dale Martin. (CP 1105) Mr. Martin stated that he was at the 
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Sundance Slope equipment loading area in the spring of 2007 to pick up a 

fertilizer spreader. He observed a white flatbed truck arrive, loaded with a 

large orange Kubota tractor. The driver unloaded the Kubota tractor. A 

short time later, he observed the truck depart the area carrying a large 

orange Kubota tractor. The driver was not an employee of Sundance 

Slope. (CP 1105) 

Mr. Martin explains that this event did not stand out in his mind at 

the time because it is common for orchard equipment to be moved during 

the growing season. When he testified at trial about the sprayers, 

Mr. Martin was not aware of the charges involving the Kubota tractor. 

(CP 1105) When he was interviewed prior to trial by Mr. Hawkins' 

attorney, Mr. Martin did not mention the Kubota tractor because he did not 

know it was relevant to the case, and the 2007 event did not stand out in 

his mind. Mr. Martin explained that the white truck and Kubota tractor 

came to mind in the spring of 2010 when he was again at Sundance Slope 

working on a fertilizer spreader. He states he was able to identify 2007 as 

the year he witnessed the original event because it was around the time he 

had an issue with Mr. Hawkins concerning a fertilizer spreader. 

(CP 1105) Sundance Slope had left fertilizer in a spreader over the winter, 

thus necessitating additional work in the spring to clean up the equipment 
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so it would function. Mr. Martin had communicated his annoyance to 

Mr. Hawkins at the time. (CP 1105) 

Mr. Hawkins filed his motion for a new trial on August 25,2010. 

(CP 1096) The motion was argued to the trial court on September 27, 

2010. (RP 3-9/27/10 transcript) Although the trial court took the matter 

under advisement, it did state preliminarily: 

I think the testimony of Mr. Martin is relevant. I 
think the testimony of Mr. Martin is as relevant as 
the testimony of Gloria Bailey ... 

Mrs. Bailey was the neighbor who witnessed a small blue Ford pickup 

drop off equipment on her property in the middle of the night. (CP 765) 

Mr. Morrison drove a small blue Ford pickup. (CP 249) 

On October 7, 2010, the trial court granted Mr. Hawkins' motion 

for a new trial. (CP 1127) After the State realized it had allowed the 

speedy trial clock to run, it set out on a path to have the trial court's written 

ruling transformed into a "formal order". This resulted in the trial court's 

written ruling being memorialized on August 30, 2011. (CP 1150) In 

both the ruling and the Order, the trial court ruled: 

• Mr. Hawkins had met his burden of demonstrating that he was 

entitled to a new trial; 

• Mr. Martin's testimony could impact the outcome ofthe trial; 

• The new evidence was discovered since the first trial; 
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• The new evidence is material; 

• The new evidence is separate and distinct, supports 

(CP 1152) 

Mr. Hawkins' position, and is not merely cumulative or 

impeaching. 

c. Mr. Hawkins' motion for a new trial was timely 
filed. 

In the Amended Brief of Appellant, the State raises for the first 

time that Mr. Hawkins' motion for a new trial was not timely. This 

argument was waived by the State, is factually and legally wrong, and 

disingenuous at best. 

In the State's brief, it asserts "defendant's motion for new trial was 

not timely under ER [sic]7.5 or ER [sic]7.8.,,7 The State asserts that 

Mr. Hawkins' motion is untimely as it was subject to a one year time bar. 

(Amended Brief of Appellant, p. 11) 

Mr. Hawkins filed his motion for a new trial on August 25, 2010. 

(CP 1096) On filing that motion, Mr. Hawkins stated: 

A motion for a new trial based on newly discovered 
evidence may be made more than one year after 
judgment if the defendant acted with reasonable 

7 The State repeatedly refers to ER 7.5 and ER 7.8. Mr. Hawkins has assumed that the 
State intended to reference CrR 7.5 and CrR 7.8. 
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diligence in discovering the evidence and filing the 
motion. RCW 10.73.090, 100.8 

(CP 1101) 

In support of the motion for a new trial, Mr. Hawkins submitted 

the Declaration of Dale Martin. (CP 1105) During the spring of 2010, 

Mr. Martin was at Sundance Slope working on a fertilizer spreader. On 

that day, he recalled that, in the spring of 2007, he had observed a white 

flatbed truck arrive at the orchard's equipment loading area. The truck 

was carrying a large orange Kubota tractor. Mr. Martin saw the driver 

8 RCW 10.73.090 provides in pertinent part: 
(1) No petition or motion for collateral attack on a judgment and sentence in a 

criminal case may be filed more than one year after the judgment becomes 
fmal if the judgment and sentence is valid on its face and was rendered by a 
court of competent jurisdiction. 

(2) For purposes of this section, "collateral attack" means any form of 
postconviction relief other than a direct appeal. "Collateral attack" includes, 
but is not limited to, a personal restraint petition, a habeas corpus petition, a 
motion to vacate judgment, a motion to withdraw guilty plea, a motion for a 
new trial, and a motion to arrest judgment. 

(3) For the purposes of this section, a judgment becomes final on the last of the 
following dates: 

(a) The date it is filed with the clerk of the trial court; 
(b) The date that an appellate court issues its mandate disposing of a 

timely direct appeal from the conviction; ... 
RCW 10.73.100 provides in pertinent part: 

The time limit specified in RCW 10.73.090 does not apply to a petition or motion 
that is based solely on one or more of the following grounds: 

(1) Newly discovered evidence, if the defendant acted with reasonable 
diligence in discovering the evidence and filing the petition or motion; ... 
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unload the Kubota tractor. A short time later, Mr. Martin saw the truck 

leave the property loaded with an orange Kubota tractor. Mr. Martin said 

no one else was present at the time. He also said that he was familiar with 

Sundance Slope employees, and the driver of the white flatbed truck was 

not Mr. Hawkins or one of Sundown Slope's employees. (CP 1106) 

Mr. Hawkins9 declared that in July of 2010, he had a conversation 

with Mr. Martin, and Mr. Martin mentioned there was something he 

wanted to talk about. Mr. Martin said he was not sure if it was important. 

Mr. Martin described seeing a flatbed truck unload a large Kubota tractor 

at Sundance Slope in the spring of 2007. Mr. Martin told Mr. Hawkins 

that the truck then departed with the same style Kubota tractor on its 

flatbed. Mr. Martin told Mr. Hawkins that he knew this was in 2007 

because it was around the time that Mr. Hawkins had an incident 

concerning fertilizer left in a spreader over the preceding winter. In the 

spring of 2007, the fertilizer had hardened and had to be removed before 

the spreader could be used. (CP 1109-10) 

Within four or five days of having this conversation with 

Mr. Martin, Mr. Hawkins contacted his attorney. (CP 1110) The motion 

for a new trial was filed a short time later. (CP 1096) 

9 Mr. Hawkins also filed a Declaration in support of his motion for new trial. (CP 1109) 
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The State filed a brief in response to the motion for a new trial on 

September 23, 2010. (CP 1111) Mr. Hawkins filed a reply brief in 

support of his motion. (CP 1116) The trial court heard oral argument on 

the motion for a new trial on September 27, 2010. (CP 1302) At no time 

during the course of this briefing or oral argument did the State ever make 

any reference to Mr. Hawkins' motion for a new trial being untimely. 

Accordingly, the State has waived this issue. 

Despite this waiver, the motion was not untimely. RCW 10.73.100 

provides that the one year limitation for a collateral attack does not apply 

to motions based on newly discovered evidence if the defendant acted 

with reasonable diligence in discovering the evidence and filing the 

petition or motion. RCW 10.73.100(1). 

Here, Mr. Hawkins learned of this new evidence by means of a 

conversation he had with Mr. Martin during July of 2010. Within four to 

five days, Mr. Hawkins brought this information to his attorney's attention. 

On August 25, 2010, the motion for a new trial was filed. The actions 

taken by Mr. Hawkins and on his behalf establish due diligence. The trial 

court properly ruled that Mr. Hawkins established due diligence. The 

motion was not untimely. 
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d. The trial court properly exercised its discretion 
in granting a new trial. 

The trial court has wide latitude when ruling on motions for a new 

trial. State v. Dunivin, 65 Wn.App. 728,731,829 P.2d 799 (1992). The 

granting or denial of a new trial is a matter primarily within the discretion 

of the trial court. An appellate court will not disturb that ruling unless 

there is a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Wilson, 71 Wn.2d 895, 899, 

431 P.2d 221 (1967). 

When considering whether newly discovered evidence will 

probably change the trial outcome, so as to warrant a new trial, "the trial 

court considers the credibility, significance and cogency of the proffered 

evidence." State v. Larson, 160 Wn.App. 577, 587, 249 P.3d 669 (2011) 

review denied 172 Wn.2d 1002 (2011). 

If anyone of the grounds considered by the trial court in 

determining whether to grant a motion for a new trial on the basis of 

newly discovered evidence is absent, the trial court may refuse to grant a 

new trial. State v. Hutcheson, 62 Wn.App. 282, 297, 813 P.2d 1283 

(1991). Accordingly, even if one of the grounds is missing, the trial court 

still has broad discretion to grant the new trial. 
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An abuse of discretion in granting a new trial exists when the trial 

court acted on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State v. 

McCarty, 90 Wn.App. 195, 200, 950 P .2d 992 (1998). 

A much stronger showing of abuse of discretion is required to set 

aside an order granting a new trial than for an order denying a new trial. 

State v. Dawkins, supra. State v. Cummings, 31 Wn.App. 427, 430, 642 

P.2d 415 (1982); State v. Marks, 71 Wn.2d 295, 427 P.2d 1108 (1967); 

State v. Taylor, 60 Wn.2d 32,39,371 P.2d 617 (1962). 

The trial court properly recognized that Mr. Martin's testimony 

provided the missing link to the explanation of how Mr. Hawkins' tractors 

had been switched. This explanation had the same impact as the 

testimony from the Baileys that resulted in acquittals on the other counts. 

e. The trial court properly ruled that Mr. Hawkins 
exercised due diligence. 

The State also takes issue with the trial court's conclusion that 

Mr. Hawkins acted with due diligence in filing the motion for a new trial. 

(Amended Brief of Appellant, p. 23) 

After sitting through the trial, reviewing all of the appellate and 

post-trial briefing and argument, the trial court stated: 

c. The Court concludes that there was no 
reason for defendant or his attorney had any 
reason to believe that Mr. Martin may have 
observed what he did the spring of 2007. If 
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(CP 1281) 

the defendant was not aware of this 
occurrence there would be no reason to ask 
anyone about it. 

The State disagrees with the trial court's conclusion. However, 

this disagreement is not a proper basis to show an abuse of discretion and 

that no reasonable jurist would have ruled in the same manner as the trial 

court did here. 

Trial counsel for Mr. Hawkins cannot be faulted for not having 

interviewed Mr. Martin about the subject of tractors being moved about. 

Mr. Martin was the chemical supplier. His testimony was offered to 

establish that the sprayers had been found on an orchard. Mr. Hawkins 

had been told by Mr. Martin that the sprayers were worthless. The 

sprayers were not useful to Mr. Hawkins. The importance of this 

testimony was to negate the State's claim that Mr. Hawkins had some 

motive to steal these sprayers and also to attempt to convince the jury that 

perhaps somebody else had actually placed these sprayers onto Sundance 

Slope's property with an aim toward making somebody believe that 

Mr. Hawkins was the person who did it. In that light, the defense 

presented testimony of Gloria Bailey about the nefarious activities that 

occurred in the middle of the night. 
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There was no reason to question Mr. Martin about whether he had 

seen any strange happenings at the orchard involving any of the Kubota 

tractors. 

With the new testimony from Mr. Martin concerning the swapping 

of the Kubota tractors, Mr. Hawkins will be able to explain how he wound 

up taking a tractor that was not his for repair to Valley Tractor. 

Mr. Martin's testimony provided the missing link to Mr. Hawkins being 

able to successfully defend this charge. 

The State has also presented a number of other theories to support 

its argument that the trial court abused its discretion in granting 

Mr. Hawkins a new trial. These arguments are without merit. 

The State contends that the trial court applied the wrong legal 

standard in granting the new trial. Specifically, the State relies upon a 

specific portion of the ruling that is belied by the balance of the decision. 

(Amended Brief of Appellant, p. 19) 

In both the trial court's initial ruling and its subsequent order, the 

trial court properly set out that the standard requires the defendant to 

demonstrate: " .. . that the evidence 1) will probably change the outcome of 

the case if a new trial is granted .... " (CP 1280, 1127) After setting forth 

the applicable standard, the court states its conclusion: " ... the defendant 

has met this burden." (CP 1280) In a follow up comment, the trial court 
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states: "The court believes that this testimony could have an impact on the 

jury's decision." (CP 1280) Apparently, the State is troubled by the fact 

that the trial court stated that the new evidence "could have" as opposed as 

the correct statement of the standard (as already set forth by the trial court) 

and the fact that the trial court concluded the standard had been met. At 

best, this is a scrivener's error and cannot be used to unwind the entire 

ruling. 

The State also argues that the trial court erred in finding that "the 

State concedes that the evidence is material to the issue." (CP 1281) 

While the State now claims that it did not concede this area, the trial 

court's finding is clearly supported by the record. 

At the time of oral argument on the motion for a new trial, the trial 

court determined that this new evidence was relevant. (RP 3, Sept. 9, 

2010 transcript) 

The State also complains that the trial court's determination that 

the new evidence was not cumulative also constitutes an abuse of 

discretion. (Amended Brief of Appellant, p. 28) Again, the trial court 

expressly entered its ruling that the new evidence was not cumulative or 

impeaching. (CP 1281) 
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The newly discovered evidence was anything but cumulative. 

There were three distinct seizures of equipment at issue during the trial: 

The two Air-O-Fan sprayers, the Landini tractor, and the Kubota 7030. 

Mr. Hawkins presented testimony from a neighbor to one of 

Sundance Slope's properties, Gloria Bailey (an independent witness) who 

testified about some suspicious goings on regarding the Air-O-Fan 

sprayers. Mr. Hawkins was acquitted ofthat charge. 

Mr. Hawkins also presented evidence that a Landini tractor was 

inspected and cleared by the police (an adverse witness) just weeks before 

an identical stolen one was found on Sundance Slope's property. This also 

demonstrated something suspicious regarding the Landini tractor, given its 

sudden shift from legal to illegal. Mr. Hawkins was also acquitted of that 

charge. 

Both of the charges which resulted in acquittals arose from 

situations where Mr. Hawkins was confronted with impartial or even 

hostile witnesses who aided the defense in establishing some suspicious 

activity surrounding the discovery of stolen equipment. No such 

independent evidence was available for the Kubota 7030 at trial. 

Mr. Hawkins had witnesses who were directly employed by him testify to 

the fact that he owned a Kubota 7030 of his own, but there was nothing 
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from an independent witness (such as Mr. Martin) to suggest something 

directly seen or observed regarding the Kubota 7030. 

The newly discovered evidence related solely to the Kubota 7030 

and the suspicious activities with the Kubota 7030. It is not cumulative. 

The newly discovered evidence helped establish that the Hawkins' 

Kubota 7030 had been seen being swapped out with another Kubota 

tractor prior to the discovery of the stolen one. This fact would have 

absolutely had a strong likelihood of changing the outcome of the second 

trial. 

The Court of Appeals' decision in the underlying case, State v. 

Hawkins, brings this into sharp focus. The Court of Appeals found that 

the trial court had erred by not allowing motive testimony for the planting 

of evidence that: 

[E]xduding evidence of Hawkins-England hostility 
did not affect the verdicts involving the RLF 
Kubota tractor. There was no showing that specific 
people had set up Mr. Hawkins on those counts, and 
thus no basis for admitting evidence of motive to do 
so. 

State v. Hawkins, supra at 753. 

In other words, the Court of Appeals recognized that the motive 

evidence would have only been material to the two pieces of evidence (the 

sprayers and the Landini tractor) of which there was evidence of shady 
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involvement by the England family. Since there was no independent 

evidence of any suspicious flatbed trucks moving the Kubota tractor about 

surreptitiously (as there was with the Air-O-Fan sprayers), the motive 

evidence would not have helped. This goes to demonstrate the extent to 

which the proffered evidence would have aided the defense. This is 

significant given the Court of Appeals' decision, which would require the 

court to allow motive evidence to be presented in the event that a new trial 

is ordered. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

This Court should affirm the order granting a new trial and reverse 

the ruling that denied Mr. Hawkins' motion to dismiss based on the 

violation of his right to a speedy trial. 

DATED this 2-3*.y of May, 2012. 
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SUPERIOR COURT, STATE OF WASHINGTON, COUNTY OF DOUGLAS 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Plaintiff, No. 07-1-00210-7 
vs. 

E. TROY HAWKINS, 
DEC LARA nON OF EDWIN TROY 
HAWKINS 

Defendant. 

EDWIN TROY HAWKINS, hereby makes the following declaration: 

1. I am the defendant in this action. I am familiar with the facts, circumstances, 

and record of my case. 

2. On November 15, 2010, the State filed a Notice of Hearing for December 6, 

2010 for the purpose of setting a trial date and entry of an order of motion for a new trial. My 

attorney, Allen Ressler, provided me with a copy of that Notice. (Copy attached) 

3. In response, Mr. Ressler filed a motion to strike Mr. Biggar's motion which was 

set for November 29,2010. (Copy attached) 

4. A hearing was held by the trial court on Mr. Ressler's motion to strike on 

November 29, 2010. I was present in the courtroom for this hearing. The trial judge and 

DECLARA TION OF EDWIN TROY HAWKINS -- I 

EXHIBIT 

f M 
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Bank of America Financial Center 
601 West Riverside Avenue, Suite 1900 

Spokane, Washington 99201·0695 
(509) 838-6131 
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Mr. Biggar were also present in the courtroom. My attorney participated via a speaker phone. 

I was seated directly behind Mr. Biggar in the spectator section of the courtroom along with 

four or five other persons. During the hearing, I heard Mr. Biggar make a comment 10 the 

judge that 1 was not present in the courtroom. When Mr. Biggar made this statement, he only 

looked to his left at the table normally used by the defendant and his counsel. Had he turned all 

the way around, he would have seen me silting directly behind him. The trial judge did not 

look up when Mr. Biggar made his statement 

5. I also appeared and personally attended the healing on July II, 2011 which had 

been noted by Mr. Biggar for the setting of a trial date. (Copy attached) 

I certify and declare under penalty of perjury under the Jaws of the State of Washington 

that the foregoing is true and COITect. 

DATED this ..Ji' day ofSeplember, 2011, at 1tf'111i<~f/1 , Washington. 
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VARIOUS HEARINGS 
THE HONORABLE JOHN HOTCHKISS 

(Pages 1 -72) 

APPEARANCES: 

FOR THE PLAINTIFF: 

FOR THE DEFENDANT: 

ERIC BIGGAR, DPA 
W. GORDON EDGAR, DPA 
Douglas County Prosecuting 

Attorney's Office 
P. O. Box 360 
Waterville, WA 98858 

ALLEN RESSLER 
JONATHAN BARASH 
Ressler & Tesh, PLLC 
821 - 2nd Avenue, Suite 2200 
Seattle, WA 98104-1540 
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MR. BIGGAR: Your Honor, I think Counsel is correct 

that the Court has limited authority to act on certain 

motions and what the Court can do when the matter is 

pending in the Court of Appeals. I did have a chance to 

talk with Mr. Ressler on Thursday or Friday of last week, 

and so my -- the one concern that I have is speedy trial. 

And if, if Counsel can assert, on behalf of his client, 

who I notice is not present and will ask the Court to 

inquire whether or not his presence is being waived, but 

if 

MR. RESSLER: (inaudible over Counsel) waive his 

presence. 

MR. BIGGAR: Okay--

MR. RESSLER: As I read the rule -- I mean I under-

stand Mr. Biggar's concern because the rule says that the 

-- says the time for speedy trial begins running from the 

entry of the order for -- for the entry of the Court's 

order granting a new trial, that's the new commencement 

date. But I -- Be that as it may, that probably does 

not take into account the -- those situations in which, 

in which the matter's still pending in the Court of 

Jo L. Jackson, Transcriptionist 
P. O. Box 914 

Waterville, WA 98858 
509-754-9507/509-630-1705 

37 



2 

··3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Appeals, and so, so the, the granting of an order of new 

trial doesn't take into account situations where the case 

is still in the Court of Appeals. And because this case 

is still in the Court of Appeals, I don't believe that 

your granting the motion for new trial actually triggers 

the speedy trial running because I would, I would, I 

would -- I can't imagine being able to argue with a 

straight face that, that the commencement date is any-

thing but the date that the mandate issues by the Court 

of Appeals. But, you know, that, that doesn't -- it 

doesn't seem to me to make sense that if you -- that the 

Trial Court doesn't have the discretion to schedule a new 

trial, and then at the same time argue that the commence-

ment date is, is the, is the Court granting the order --

the Court granting the defense motion for a new trial. 

So, despite the fact that you granted a motion 

for a new trial, the commencement date hasn't begun. The 

commencement date is not the -- not that order, but 

rather whenever it is that, that the Court of Appeals 

decides to get around to dealing with the, the, I mean, 

the, the, the defense motion for reconsideration, and 

Jo L. Jackson, Transcriptionist 
P. O . Box 914 
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hopefully that'll be in the summertime. So I don't have 

to come up that slippery road up there to you. 

THE COURT: Oh, shoot, you've had a lot worse 

weather in the Seattle area than we have up here. 

MR. RESSLER: Yeah, I know, except that I wasn't 

here, I was in New York. 

THE COURT: Oh. And a whole lot more people to deal 

with. Alright. 

MR. RESSLER: Yeah, that's true. 

THE COURT: Mr. Biggar? 

MR. BIGGAR: Well, with that concession, Your Honor, 

I think Counsel's argument does make some sense. I would 

take the position that speedy trial, that commencement 

date of speedy trial does not occur until, I guess, one 

of two things: One, the mandate is received or until 

this Court actually formally enters an order granting new 

trial. This Court has entered a memorandum of opinion 

(sic) . I think under the rules that's not technically an 

order for new trial; I think one would need to be 

rendered in writing with findings and conclusions. 

MR. RESSLER: I am not going to argue that, that, 
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that whatever it is that -- I mean, I don't necessarily 

agree with that last thing, you know, but I will not, I 

will not, I will not argue that, that the, that -- and 

I've talked to my client about this and I've told him 

that this was the position I was taking with the Court. 

So -- And I think it's legally the right decision. I've 

tried to research this to see if I can find anything that 

I think we're in a peculiar situation. I can't find 

anything that, that tells me the answer to this question, 

but, but the most sensible answer, I think, is that until 

the case comes back to the Trial Court from the Court of 

Appeals, we can't schedule a new trial, and I, and I 

certainly won't argue that, that the commencement date is 

the, the date that the Court granted the motion for new 

trial, whether that be in a formal order, or whether it 

be in a memorandum decision that the Court issued. But, 

in any, in any event, it would seem -- it would not be, 

it would not be appropriate for me to, to talk out of 

both sides of my mouth. 

THE COURT: Well, the Court agrees that the speedy 

trial can't begin to run until such time as the Court has 
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the ability to set it for trial, and the Court doesn't, 

pursuant to the rules, have the ability to set it for 

trial at this particular time until it's mandated back. 

So, under those circumstances, we won't set it for trial 

until that occurs. Speedy trial will not begin to run 

until such time as the mandate has come back. 

MR. RESSLER: Okay. Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. BIGGAR: Thank you. 

THE COURT: Thank you. The Court's going to hang up 

now, Mr. Ressler. 

MR. RESSLER: Thanks. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

(END OF HEARING - 9:10:12 a.m.) 
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Renee S. Townsley 
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Eric C. Biggar 
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State of Washington v. Edwin Troy Hawkins 
DOUGLAS COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT No. 071002107 

Counsel: 

It has come to our attention that a Decision on Motion for New Trial was filed in Douglas 
County on October 7, 2010. Pursuant to RAP 7.2(e), a motion for permission to file a trial court 
determination which will change a decision being reviewed by the appellate court must be 
obtained prior to the formal entry of the trial court decision. A Motion for Reconsideration is 
pending in the appellate court. Please file such motion within five days, by December 13, 
2010. 

RST:jcs 

c: Carl Edward Hueber 
Winston & Cashatt 
601 W Riverside Ave Ste 1900 
Spokane, WA 99201-0695 

c: Judge John Hotchkiss 

Sincerely, 

~::~ 
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A. Assignments of Error. 

1. The trial court prevented Mr. Hawkins from presenting a 

complete defense when it refused to allow evidence of the Englands' and 

Robert Morrison's motive and involvement in the theft and switching of 

the farm equipment. 

2. The trial court violated Mr. Hawkins' right to due process 

by not instructing the jury on the statutory defense of good faith claim of 

title and that the State has the burden of proving the non-existence of that 

defense beyond a reasonable doubt. 

3. Mr. Hawkins was denied his right to effective assistance of 

counsel by his counsel's failure to propose a good faith claim of title 

instruction. 

B. Issues. 

1. Whether the trial court's refusal to allow Mr. Hawkins to 

present evidence of the Englands' and Robert Morrison's motive and 

involvement in the theft and switching of the farm equipment violated his 

right to present a complete defense. 

2. Whether the trial court's failure to instruct the jury on the 

statutory defense of good faith claim of title and that the State has the 

burden of proving the non-existence of that defense beyond a reasonable 

doubt violated Mr. Hawkins' right to due process. 

- 1 -



3. Whether defense counsel's failure to propose a good faith 

claim oftitle instruction violated Mr. Hawkins' right to effective assistance 

of counsel. 

C. Statement of the Case. 

This case arises from the disappearance and switching of Sundance 

Slope's farm equipment. Mr. Hawkins works for Sundance Slope which 

operates an orchard business and maintains a fleet of tractors. Two of its 

tractors were taken and replaced with tractors that had been taken from a 

former competitor. The defense was precluded from presenting evidence 

that established that third parties had the motive and were responsible for 

switching this equipment. 

Troy and Brit Hawkins have been married for 19 years. (RP 587) 

They have five daughters. (RP 589) They graduated from Brigham 

Young University together. (RP 588) Upon graduation, they moved to 

Texas where Mr. Hawkins worked in the financial industry and 

Mrs. Hawkins worked as a school teacher. (RP 796) 

Mrs. Hawkins' family has been involved in the orchard business 

for generations. (RP 795) While living in Texas, Mrs. Hawkins desired to 

return to Washington to raise her children and to get involved in 

orcharding. (RP 593) In 2002, Mrs. Hawkins purchased a piece of 
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